SHELBURNE COUNTY—YARMOUTH. 4i

two mules from the sea, and for ships,—eight miles; the legst depth
during that space beimg sixteens feet, with good shelter and anchorage.
About thirteen miles from the shore, and twenty-one miles west by
north from Cape Sable, lics Scal Island. It is emplatically called ¢he
elbow of the Bay of Fundy. The American fishermen resort to it for
woeod and water. There are two Acadian settlements in tl.lis township,.,
at Pubnico and Eel Brook. The principal harbour is Pubnico, from
seven .to twelve fathoms water, éasy of access, and affording - shelter to
vessels eptering the Bay of Fundy.

.- Yarmouth township lies between Argyle and Clare (in Annapolis
coﬁnty),-and fontains 100,000 deres of la.hd. The soil, proguctions, and
climate are the same as those of Argyle. There are nufherous lakes in
these townsh:ps, upwards of cighty of which have been already explored,
and it is intersected by several rivers. The face of the county is diversi-
fied, and the scenery beautiful. The principal harbour & Cape Fourche
or. Fourchon, which is large, well sheltered, and navigable for ships ap
to Yarmouth village. Chebogue river is gavigable for seven miles from
the sea, and at its mouth expands into a good harbour. The Acadians
had several small settlements in this district ; after their expulsion the
township was granted, in 1767, to settlers from New England. 1t has,
always maintained a steady state of improvement, and promises, from its
varipus local advantages, to become a place of considerable importance.
The inhabitants are industrious and enterprising, and carry on a trade
of some consequence both with England and the West Indies. 9here
are in the township a court-house and a jail, four churches of several
denominations, eighteen small school-houses, fourteen grist-mills, and
upwards of 700 dwelling-houses. Yarmouth viliage and Melton are
classed among the fowns of the province. Yarmouth contains about
100 dwelling-houses, and there are nine trading establishments. Melton
‘contains about thirty houses.

The population of this county was, in 1817, 138,611 ; the census of
1827 éave the following results, both of population and produce. This
is the only county in the province in which the population has not
increased ; a circumstance attributable, not to the want of a due natural
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increase ;,nrthe resident population, but to be ascribed to emlgrah\gn, the

greater part of the settlers in and about the town-of Shelburne 1ha#':mg
removed from that place.

3 Live Stock. Produce:
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Shelburne Township 2097 41 '2,428 4,993 11,754} 3,133|295 2,611
Barrington ditto 2,186 16| 1,323 4,002{1,221} 1,687] 20| 590
Argyle ditto . 2,790 42| 2,566 3,9401,555| 2,640| 151,663 i
Yarmouth ditto ‘ 4,34512201 3,722 7.,81711,456 {10,039 | 115 4,798 ' ]14 692 5,022

iTotal county of Shelburne 12,018 319 (10,039 |20,752 15,986 17,429 | 445 9,002 '308,250 12,293

Abstract q‘f thé Population, Cultivated Land, Agricultural Produce, and Live Stock of Novr Scolia,
as per cbisus taken in 1828.
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Hulifaix County . . (30,196 | 46,548| 92976 | 4,530 90,464 | 43,584 24,192 | 62,246 194,902 | 876,546] 40,397
Syduey ditto - . 17,0901 12760 | 39,465 | 848| 15,706 | 24,349 | 7,705 | 21919, 38 173 363,288/ 15,794
\Cumberland ditto . . | 2965| 5.356( 29308| 1,264| 8,226 | 11,6664:5,533 | 14.152| 34,0891 269,807 13,790
Hants ditto . . . | 6318 8627 87,531| 2486, 9475) 14,863 5,927 18,5201 45, 9227,948| 19,977
Kingsditto ... | 7,145| 10,208| 34,150 | 1,789 12,680 | 18,674} 6,232 | 25,668 65,137 | 538,903 25.286
Lunenbury ditto . - o% @405 | 13.467| 202! 89781 11,2381 5331 | 3117| 33,146 | 334,163 10,677
Queen’s ditto .18 4223| 5630| 163| 2,436| 2737, 2264 1,369 3.276| 53917 3.507
Annapolis ditto . . | 9,817| 14,661 | 22,174| 1,351 | 13,872 27,0405 6404 5410 26,300 | 385478 21549
Shelburne ditte . . (13,611 12,018| 17,429 ml 10,039 | 20,752 | 5,986 | 445 9,062 808,250/ 12,203

r; ¢ N | “
r"ﬁ’i&ﬁusm of Cnpe} 86,668 123,808 [292,130 (12,952 1110,776 174,653 171,904 (152,836 .449,400 3,358, 390163,170




CHAPTER III

Mrboms—Roads-ﬁ&nnls—Climate'—Producﬁons, &ec. of Nova Scotia.

- No_codiilly, in proportion to its extent, possesses a, greater number
fe and commodious harbours than 1\ova Scofia. The whole line of
siet, with the cxception of aspart in the Bay of Fundy, is almost one
contmued chain of bays and lmrbours, some of them fornung as fine ports
as any in the world. Halifax is one of the finest in America; accessible
at all seasons of the year, remarkable for the facility of its entrance, and
possessmg safe anchorage for 1000 ships. Margaret’s ay is both safe
eapauous, twelve mlles in depth and from two miles, at its entra!.ue. .
e Bay is equally extensive and safe, affording

$ anchorage for slups of the line. leerpool a noble deep bay, having
goo canchorage for the largest ships. Shelburne Harbour is esteemed
ong’@f-the best in America, as well on account of its casy access, as for

ﬁ.city and perfect security. Country Harbour is navigable and safo
pthe largest ships for ten miles from its entrance. Canseau forms an
exeellent harbour, aﬂ'ordmg safe and commodious anchorage for the largest
and Chedabuctg Bay, twenty-five miles in length and fifteen in
&h free from all &structlom is navigable throughout for the largest
ships, and affords secure shelter and anchorage in its several smaller har-
boug. "These are but a few of the principal hatbouré en the Atlantic
In the gulf of S8t>Lawrence and the Straits of Northumberland
ré are also several noble harbours: Pictou Harbour, a: beautlful and
capa(nous basin; Wallace Bay, navigable for ships of the first class for
morg than six miles ; and Pugwash Bay, the entrance about a quarter of
8 mile wide, leading into a noble basin, where the largest vessels can ride
pfect safety, and anghor within twenty yards of the shore. On the

£ Fundy the prm&’ﬁal harbours are Annapolis, with its two beau-
basins, and the outei' port of Digby ; the extenslve basln of mnas,
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ni : of the.Basm of
1s a work of Mmbe 1mportance
e best-uxlhvated districts of
eommumcatlon to Hahfax

vince beyond ¢ reach of are enemy. Tt is fifty-four miles in,
is_cc nstruma for sea“going vessels drawing eight feet water.
npleted for boat navigatipn, and will be fully finished,
pected in the course of another year. The expense of its con-
2 wa# estimated at.about 40,000/. raised by a joipt-stock com-
, who have obtained a charter of incorporation. "

[t has been proposed to make a canal across the narrow isthmus
h connects this province with New Brunswick) between Cumber-
n, at the head of the Bay of ¥undy, and BayeVerte in North-
wland Straits. The distance across is no more than eleven miles,
‘eminent engineer'who surveyed the ground has demonstrated the
ability of the work, and estimated the cost of its construction, so

ee. The long and dangerous circuit of Cape Breton v
ed in the namgatlon between the Bay of Fundy and the
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CLIMATE *

« The climate of Nova 8 otia is cold, the winWontmumg from
December to May The earth is completely frozen from Christmas to -
April, durmg which period there are very heavy falls of snow. There
is scarcely any spring; for so sdon as the frost and snow disappe:
vegetation revives with such vigour ‘as, in a few day to alter f.he
whole face of the country. .About the 1st of June ¢ fields aﬂbrd
sufficient food for cattle. The heat of summer is both moderate
regular, being greatest in the “month of August, and the nights
generally, temperate. The autumn is the finest portion of the year; the
mornings and evenings are cool, the temperature of mid-day not unlike
that of June, and the sky generally clear, and cloudless. 'The month of
April and the autumnal months &re the most rainy, and fogs prevail on
* the southern shore, and at the mouth of the ay of Fundy, in sum.

but do not extend inland. The climate is &kably healthy, and eon- « °
ducive to longevity. A great proportion of the inhabitants live to a
very advanced age, not uncommonly to ninety and one hundred 3
This great longevity was also observable enjorig the Indlans

«

L
©

mtétm ttent, bilious, and yellow fever of America have never ap
in the*province, nor do any diseases prevail that are
in England. To say that the cllmate is not u

be entirely beneficial to Europeans.

SOIL..

of ’this province is of the g
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s SOIL. ar

of the first class is supposed to be equal to one-faurth of the.w,hole pro-
vinee, about 2,500,009 acres; and of* the second about 8,500,000 acres :

inferior lgnd about 2, 000,000 acres; and nearly an equal proportion of
barren. The same diversity of soil prevails in every county in the pro-

. vince. The best land is generally found on the shores’of the Bay of
Fundy, the Minas and Cumberland Basins, and the gulf shore ; and the,
inferior land on the squthern shore. «There are extensive exceptions in

both cases, particularly on the nlargins of the lakes and rivers; on the
latter of which, especially, good land mgstly prevalls .The quality of
tﬁ soil is generally indicated by the timber it’produces. Black and
yellow Rirch,«lm, ash, maple, or hemlock, indicate a rlch.soil. White
birch and spruce, or timber of a stunted growth and size? denote inferior

, land, and pine is generally found on dry sandy soils. The first class of

land consists of upland, interval, and marsh. Interval is a term peculiar
to America, and denotes land composedl of the alluvialedeposit of rivers .

itds found in every county in the province; it produces grain of ,all -
» kinds; and such is its fertility, that it hag been known to produce four-

teen successive crops of wheat without the assistance of manure. Marsh
land is also composed of alluvial sediment, deposited by the tide, and
whent enclosed by dikes, and well drained, exceedingly fertile, yielding,

for several years abundant crops of wheat, and subsequently alternate,

otations of grass and wheat, without the aid of manure. The quantity
xterval and marsh land in the province has not been accurately asger-
tained, nor is it easy to form a conjecture respecting it; much.of it,
particularly the interval, being yet in a state of nature. The arable
lands bear as yet but a small proportion to the ungu]twated and are
c!ueﬂy conﬁned to the coasts, harbours, and banks of the rivers; though
e§ small settlements, invited by local circumstances, are found scat-
red in the interior. The appearance of some of the old townships will

*vie with any part of America. The extensive and well-cultivated valley

of the river Annapolis, the diversified and picturesque country of Horton,
“ornwallis, and Windsor, the country along the Shubenacadie, and the
1 \ s of Newport a@ Yarmouth, cannot fail to strike the stranger
rpnse, as existing in a country which has hitherto almost escaped

, and has been represented as the most uninteresting pm% of

. i g
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NATURAL PRODUCTIONS®

The natural productions of this country, like all others in a state of
nature, consist of its timber, minerals, and wild animals. The woods and
timber are the same as are found in the other northern parts of North
America :—the pine in all its varieties ; the birch, avhich is considered as
the best in. America ; oak, suitable for ship-building; spruce, hemlock,
beech, ash, mai)le, and elm; al] fit for, boards, staves, and lumber, and
an innumerable variety of other sorts of great beauty, but of minor
value. The guantity of valuable timber is very great, and far from
being exhausted, and enables the colonists to carry on a very extensive
trade in timber and lumber, to the mother country and the West Indies,
as well as in the building and sale of ships, for which purposes it is
as suitable as the ‘timber of any other section of North America. There
is g great variety of indigenous plants and flowers, some of them very
beautiful, as well as of wild frujts, consisting of the sorts most common
in Europe.

MINERALS.

The minerals of this province are but little known, and no steps
haye been hitherto taken to procure a scientific geological survey of the
country. With the exception of the coal-fields at Pictou, no excavation
of any depth has been made into the earth, and its surface is so covered
with forests that the greater part of it has never been made the subject
of investigation. The reservation to the crown (in the grants of land
made in this colony) of the valuable minerals has rendered the owners
of the soil indifferent about the discovery of what they could not enjoy.
All the reserved minerals in the province were granted by the crown to
His Royal Highness the late Duke of York, and by him leased (it is
understood for a terin of sixty years) to Messrs. Rundell, Bridge, and
Co., of London, who have as yet confined their. operations to a eolliery
opened in the district of Pictou, called the Albion Colliery. The:prin-
cipal minerals hitherto observed are coal, iron, gypsum, lead, coppet,
maenganese, salt, lime, slate, freestone, and grenite.
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Cpal of the finest quality and in the greatest abundance js known
to exist in certain pamts of the province. The great coal-field of Plctou,
based on lmestone, has been traced from Carriboo Harhour to Merigo-
mish, enclosing an area of more than 100 square miles, the veins varyjng
in thickness from fifty feet to one foot. The vein opened at the Albion
coal-mine is upwards of fifty feet in thickness. This field consists of
several distinct layers, the upper or main base being generally thirty-
six feet in thickness. The coal i$ of a highly bituminous quality, burns
freely, making a cheerful lively firc in a grate, and castipg a strong and
powerful heat. It is as well adapted for smiths *use as any coal in the
world, and has a peculiarly valuable property in preparing iron. Inan
experiment made at the Albion works upon some iron are, it produced
a metal of the very best and finest quality. Tt is also peculiarly adapted
for steam-engine boilers, as it produces steam quicker than any known
bituminous coal; and being free frorm impurities, hag not so great a
tendency to burn the boilers. The coal-field in the north-western part of .
the county of Cumberland, between the, river Macan and the shores of
the Chignecto channel, is also of considerable extent.  There are eight
veins of coal, one over the other, varying from one to four feet in thick-
ness. The coal is not considered so good as that of the Pictou ficld, nor,
have any works been yet established upon it. There are also indications
of coal in the township of Londonderry, and at Onslow; on the north
shore of the Minas Basin; at the head of Pomket Harbour, in the upper
district of the county of Sydney; and on, the south shore of Wallace
Harbour, in the county of Cumberland. From the great abundance,
superior quality, and facility of raising and shipping {he coal of this pro-
vince, there is no doubt but it will, at no distant period, become an
extensive and valuable article of its trade, and an abundant source of
wealth to the proprietors and the colonists.

' Iron ore abounds in several parts of the province. Some of the
most valuable is found in great quantities, interstratified with the
coal veins, in the Pictou coal-field. This ore is found to be of the
very best quality, producing from thirty to sixty per cent. of pure
metal. There are no iron works as yet established in these districts.
Iron ore exists in the western parts of the county of Annapolis in great
abundance, particularly’ in the township of Clements. The “ Annapolis
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Iron Mining Company” was established and incorporated in the year
1825; they have erected extensive iron works on the Moose River, which
falls into the Annapolis Basin, where they manufacture l}oﬂow ware and
bar iron of very superior quality. As there is no coal discovered in this
part of the province, charcoal is used in those works, of which the neigh-
bouring forests afford an inexhaustible supply. Indications of copper
have been found at Cariboo and Toney’s River, French River, and East
River, near Pictou; at Tatmagouche and Waugh’s River, and at Minudie,
in the county of Cumberland: in fact, indications of copper are found
from Cariboo, near Pictou, quite through the whole extent of the county
of Cumberland to Minudie ; and although no stratum or continyous vein
has been discovered, with the exception of a small one at Minudie about
an inch in width, there is every reason to believe that this section of
country contains some valuable veins of this mineral. Very few lead ores
have been discovered. Some fine specimens of sulphuret of lead have
begn found near Gruysborough, in the county of Sydney ; and manganese
occurs in considerable quantities near Amherst, in Cumberland county. .
Thus it should seem that in those sources of riches which lie below the
surface of the soil, this province excels every other part of the British
dominions in North America.

Gypsum, or plaster of Paris, abounds in the middle and eastern parts
of the province, and is generally of the best quality. It exists in the
covnty of Hants, and in Windsor and Newport townships in the greatest
profusion, forming the prinaipal article of export. It also abounds in
the Shubenacadic River. Considerable quantities are raised in the town-
ship of Dorchester, in Sydney county, and exported from Antigonish ;
and it is very abundant in the county of Cumberland, especially at the
Rivers Macan and Napan, in the township of Ambherst, and on the River
Philip. There are various kinds of gypsum, generally divided into hard
and soft, the latter of which is esteemed the best; it is by no means a'
solid body, and is seldom found in unbroken strata of pure gypsum. It
is quarried by the aid of gunpowder, and broken into a suitable size for
exportation by the pick-axe. Its value, as a manure, is well known, and
highly appreciated in the United States, to which upwards of 100,000
tons have been annually exported from Nova Scotia.
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SALT SPRINGS.

Salt springs have been discovered in several places. At Black
River, a branch of the Philip, a considerable quantity is manufactured,
producing twelve per cent. of pure salt; at West and Middle Rivers,
near Pictou, producing about eight per cent.; at the west river of An-
tigonish of similar quality; at the Rivers Chegenois and Salmon, in the
township of Onslow; and at thg River,Stewiack, in she township of
Truro. 'There never has been any extensive manufacture of this article,
the price of 13bour being as yet too high to enable the colgnists to enter
into competition with that which is imported ; but no doubt the period
will arrive when the supply of native salt for the fisheries will be an
interesting object of manufacture, and source of considerable wealth.

Granite, limestone, slate, and freedtone are found i several parts of
the province, and the two latter in some places worketl to some extant,
principally for domestic use; and extensive and valuable quarries of
grindstones are worked at South Laggin, near Minudie, in the county of
Cumberland. These grindstones are particularly esteemed in the United
States, to which upwards of 10,000/ worth are annually exported.

ANIMALS.

Nova Scotia abounded with a great variety of animals. These were
soon considerably reduced by the chase, principally for the purpose
of obtaining fur and peltry; many species have cqQnsequently become
extinct, and the catalogue and number of those ‘that remain are by no
means considerable. Among these the principal are the moose, cariboo,
bear, fox, racoon, lynx, cat, weasel, martin, otter, minx, beaver, mus-
‘quash, hare, woodchuck, rat, mouse, mole, bat, &c.

BIRDS.

The birds of Nova Scotia are in general the same as are found in all
the northern provinces of America. Most of them are birds of passage,
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but some, such as the jay, crow, partridge, woodpecker, and a few others,
are to be found during the winter. No perfect catalogue has been as yet
made of them.

FISHES.

The waters of this province, and the seas surrounding it, abound
with fish in the greatest variety and of the most valuable species. The
lakes and rivers teem with the usugl fresh water fish—trout, perch,
bream, eels, and many( others. The harbours swarm with cod, mackerel,
herrings, shad, alewives, salmon, halibut, sturgeon, sole,‘plaice, smelt,
haddock, lobstérs, oysters, muscles, cockles, and an inﬁnite variety of
others; and in the surrounding seas are found all those fish of the whale
species valuable for their oils, as the whale, grampus, porpoise, &c. In-
deed the taking«dnd curing of fish may be considered as one of the prin-
cipal, if not the chief staple of the tradc and source of the wealth of
Nova Scotia; a more particular account of which will be given when we
come to treat of the trade of the province.



CHAPTER 1V.

Extent—Grants~ Agriculture—Statistics—Clergy—Iiducation, &e.

Nova ScoTia contains, exclysive of ,Cape Breton, about 9,000,000
of acres, not including lakes and rivers. Very fow grants of land were
made prior t& 1750, except town and fishing lots.. It appears that from
1760 to 1812, there were passed 1816 grants of land, conveying 5,991,961
acres, and subsequently 127,978 acres ; on the whole 6,119,939 acres : but
of those 2,152,662 acres escheated to the crown. The quantity of ap-
propriated land therefore is 3,979,277 dcres, and the quantity at the dis-
posal of the ecrown about 5,000,000. In all those grantsetrifling quit-reuts
were reserved to the crown, and in mostdinstances all minerals; but the
crown lands are now disposed of by sale at public auction; and as the
mines and minerals of the whole province have been granted away, they
cannot go with the land. The first settlers naturally selected the best,
land, both as to quality and situation; the ungranted, or crown lands,
therefore, lie in the rear of the townships and in the interior, and consist
of almost all the inferior tracts, with a very considerable quantitys of
good land. There are extensive tracts of crown lands in the county of
Cumberland, extending from one end of it to the other, a great part of
which is of very excellent quality. The whole of &he interior of the
county of Shelburne is still undisposed of’; some of it is well wooded,
and the soil in many places of good quality. There are also considerable
tracts of good crown lands in the interior of the counties of Annapolis,
"Queen’s, and Sydney. In short, considerable tracts of superior and good
land are to be found among the crown lands in all parts of the province*.

The value of land necessarily depends on the fertility of the soil, local situation, and
state of improvement. It is impossible thercfore to form any general estimate of the value of
improved land. Wilderness, or unimproved land, varies from 57 to 40l per hundred acres.
About 10!, per hundred acres is the full average value of improvable wilderness Jand.
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The process of bringing the wild land into a state of cultivation,
and the operations of agriculture, are wuch the sae in this province as
in all other newly-settled countries. The first thing to be Jone is to
clecr oft' the wood. 'The trees are cut down at about three feet from the
ground, lopped and sawn into convenient lengths, and then burnt ; where
this is not performed by the settler himself, the cost of the whole is abeut
4l.10s. per acre, exceeding the rate at which the same service may be
procured in the Canadas by about 1/. 10s. per acre. The wood, although
green, burns freely, and the whole clegring may be, and generally is, per-
formed in one season, from March to September. The land is then pre-
pared, by manual labour with the hoe, for the seed, and wheat, rye, maize
sown, or potatoes planted; grass seeds are always sown with the grain erops,
and after they are taken off, the land remains in grass, producing hay for
the food of the cattle in winter, until the stumps of the trees decay, and
the plough can &e used. The settler is enabled to keep a stock of cattle
assoon as he caneraise hay off his land, which is generally the third year.
The settler carries on the same process on a portion of new land every.
year, cither until his whole farm is cleared, or until, by the decay of the
stumps, he is enabled to cultivate again the already-cleared land with the
plough, which can generally be done in five or six years. New land
yields the most abundant crops, and a farm consisting of both new and
cleared land is considered more profitable than one entirely cleared. Farms
of the former description are called “half-improved farms.” Wheat is
raised with some difficulty in Nova Scotia; if the seed be well selected,
and sown early on good land, properly tilled, it will ripen in all ordinary
seasons ; it requires great care in its culture, and if that be neglected, it
is probable it will not succeed. The average crop on good upland is
from sixteen to twenty-five bushels; on interval and marsh much more:
it has been known to yield forty bushels per acre. The quantity grown
in the province is not nearly sufficient for its own consumption, and flour
is consequently imported to a considerable extent. The climate is very
congenial to rye, oats, and barley; they are raised without difficulty, and
yield abundantly. The average crop on good land is oats, 25; barley, 20;
and rye, 16 bushels per acre. Maize, or Indian corn, is indigenous in
Anmerica; it is extensively cultivated in the western districts of this- pro-
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vince,,and is a most valuable vegetable. It is.easily cultivated: the
leaves and stalk afford good food for cattle; the grain is the very best
that horses and swine can eat; and the meal the best for bread, next to
wheat-flour. Indian corn bread, though very little used in this provinge,
is in common use in the New England provineces and New York, indeed
all through the United States; the average crop is about t:venty-ﬁve to.
thirty bushels per acra.

Potatoes thrive better in Nova Scotia than in any part of America,
and are very much cultivated ; thg producg is abm.lt 200 bushels per acre.
Turnips, beans, and buckwheat are also cultivated very gencrally, and
with success. ®* Few places are regularly divided into fields, hut a rotation
of crops is generally adopted.  On the virgin land, whedt, rye, potatoes,
maize, and sometimes turnips, compose the first crop; then grass for a
few years. On the breaking up of the grass land, generally oats, then
potatoes, then wheat, succeceded by potatoes and whedty and laid down
with clover or timothy grass. Hay is indispensable for the subsistence
»of cattle in the winter in this province, angd the culture of grasses is there-
fore a primary object with the Nova Scotia farmer, insomuch that the
land laid down in grass is scarcely ever broken up until the failure of the
grass crop indicates the necessity of renewal and change. New land,
requires no manure in the first instance, and some soils, marsh and in-
terval, have been under crop for several successive years without the aid
of manure. Dung is the most common manure used, particularly«n
upland ; lime has come but partially and lately into use. Gypsum, of
which such guantities are exported to the United States for manure, is
not at all, used for that purpose in this province; thesalluvial deposit of
the tide and rivers is, where it can be had, considered the best manure,
and used as such.

One of the greatest embarrassments of the farmer arises from the rapid
i)rogress of vegetation. The spring is very short, the time for planting
extremely limited, and the period of harvesting succeeds with rapidity;
hence the labours of the husbandman are all crowded within the space
of half the year. Wheat and rye are sown in April; Indian corn, barley,
and potatoes, in May; buckwheat in June; and turnips in July. Mowing
commences in July; reaping begins in August, and is finished in Sep-
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tember. * This crowding of the business of the farm is often attended
with expense, and sometimes, owing te the scarcity of labourers, with
the loss of some part of the crop, from inability to harvest it. The
quantity of cultivated land, and its produce, was ascertained, by a census
taken by order of the government in 1827, which gave the following
results :

Land cultivated, 292,009 acres; wheat, 152,836 bushels; other
grain, 449,626 bushels; potatoes, 3,398,220 bushels; hay, 168,212 tons.
From which it would appear, estimating the number of acres under
each crop by the average produce per acre, that there were about 10,000
acres under wheat, 22,500 acrcs under other grain, 22,500 acres under
potatoes, and about 164,000 acres under hay ; in all about 220,000 acres
under crop.

The climate of this province is by no means uncongenial to the pro-
duction of fruit!”™ The French in all their settlements planted orchards,
some of which still remain: the settlers from New England often did
the same, and the practice has-been generally and successfully followed..
There are extensive orchards in Hants, King’s, and Annapolis counties ;
and the cider, which forms a considerable article of export, is inferior to
none in America. The winter fruit particularly is raised in great quan-
tities, and is of the most excellent quality. Plums, pears, quinces, and
cherries are found in all the orchards perfectly naturalized, and bear
aYundantly; and peaches and grapes ripen in ordinary seasons without
any artificial aid.

The province is well stocked with horses, horned cattle, sheep, and
swine. The horses are a mixed race of the American, Canadian, and
English stock; they are not very good, but considerable improvement
is being made in the breed by the introduction of English blood horses.
The horned cattle are very superior; the oxen are large, well-shaped,
strong, tractable in yoke, and easily fatted. The cows, when attended
to, are good for the dairy. Beef and butter are both abundant and
cheap, and not only supply the home consumption, but afford a con-
siderable article of export. The sheep have been so intermixed that
they cannot be classed with any particular breed: they are good-sized,
-and hardy; weigh from ten to twenty pounds a quarter, and as mutton,



LABOUR—MANUFACTURES—SHIP-BUILDING. 57

are very good; the fleece is tolerably fine, and always manufacgured by
the settler for domestic use. The live stock of the province has more than
doubled within the last twenty years. The census of 1827 gave the fol-
lowing results: horses, 12,951; horned cattle, 110,818; sheep, 173,731
swine, 71,482.

« Labour, although scarce, cannot be considered high in this province.
The expense of clearing wilderness land, that is, felling and carrying off
the timber, varies from 3Z. to 4/. 10s. per acre; that of erecting a tolerable
hause for a first settlement, about 157 to 25/. The ycarly wages of good
labourers are from: 204 to 25/. besides board and lodging; day labour
from 2s.40 38 per day, with board and }odging also. The demand for
labour must suit itself to the supply, but if the supply were considerably
greater, the .dcmzmd would increase, at least in an equal, if not a still
greater ratio.

There are few manufactures, properly so called, cargied on in Nova
Scotin; but the preparation of lumber, and ship-buildimng, are sometimes
.50 denominated. 'There are saw-mills in jevery district of the province,
and even so far back as 1785 there were ninety of them in the country ;
the number has been vastly increased since that period. The quantity
of lumber prepared and exported is momentous, and it is considered as
good here as in any other part of America. Ship-building is carried on
to a great extent in cvery part of the province: in the ship-yards of the
peninsula alone, there were built in the year 1826, 131 vessels, containing
15,535 tons ; and in 1828, 94 vesscls, containing 6,560 tons. The average
quantity of ship-building is not less than 10,000 tons per annum, prin-
cipally sloops, schooners, and vessels for the fishery. | The number and
tonnage of the shipping belonging to the province, exclusive of Cape
Breton, was, in 1826, 1,031 vessels; tonnage, 52,779 ; number of men
and boys employed, 3.407. The number is on the increase, and may
how be estimated at not less than 1,500 vessels, and 70,000 tons, about
150 of which are square-rigged, and the remainder sloops, schooners, &c.
There are iron works at Moose River; the quantity manufactured is in-
considerable, but the quality is very good. There are also coal works at
Pictou, which supply not only the provincial demand, but also a con-
siderable export to the United States. A few manufactories are esta-
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blished gt Halifax : sugar refining; distilleries of rum, gin, and whiskey;
breweries of ale and porter; soap, candle, and deather factories: the
latter, with some few other articles of domestic consumption, rre indeed
manufactured by almost every farmer.

" The foreign trade of this province is, in common with that of
the other British possessions in America, regulated by the statute
6 Geo. IV. cap. 114, of the British Parliament, whjch took effect in 1826.
Halifax and Pictou were declared free-warehousing ports, under this
act, for the entry, warehousing, transporting, and exportation of all de-
seription of merchandize, with a few trifling exceptions. 'The exports
of provincial produce consist of timber to Great Britain and forcign
Europe ; ofﬁgypsum, coal, and grindstones to the United States; of
lumber, fish, beef, pork, butter, grain, potatoes, horses, horned cattle,
and sheep to the West Indies, New Brunswick, Newfoundland, and
Brazil. Besides provincial produce, considerable quantities of fish, flour,
and West India produce are re-exported. The imports consist of British
manufactures of every kind, wines, dried fruit, &e. West India produce,.
salt, flour, and cured fish. The greatest part of this trade is carried on
at Halifax, which is the general port of entry and clearance for the greater
part of the province. The value of the exports, and quantity of ship-
ping employed therein in 1828 was, of exported articles, 473,861/ ; ship-
ping employed, 1,651; tonnage, 132,767 ; navigated by 7,304 men and
boys. Among the articles exported were, 175,128 quintals of dry fish,
and 40,526 barrels of pickled fish, the latter consisting principally of her-
vings, mackarel, salmon, alewives, and shad. The imports the same year
were of the value of 847,530Z in 1,694 vessels, of 132,174 tons, navigated
by 7,342 men and boys. Such a trade, carried on by a province the
resources of which are scarcely known, much less fully developed, and
having only a scanty and widely-scattered population of 124,000 souls,
is powerfully demonstrative of the industry and enterprise of the inhabit-
ants, and of the value and importance of the colony. Fish is the chief
staple of the trade of this province. The fishery is carried on principally
on the eastern shore, in and about Chedabucto Bay ; on the southern at
Lunenburg, Liverpool, and Shelburne; on the western at Yarmouth,
Clare, Argyle, and Barrington ; and at Annapolis, in the Bay of Fundy.
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The fish principally taken are cod, herrings, maekarel, shad, alewives,
and salmon. The fisheries of Chedabucto Bay are remarkably pro-
ductive; thdeed, cod is taken in the bay, and even in the harbours, and
so are herrings; and the shoals of mackarel are immense. This fishe is
to be found from June to October on the shore and in the harbours, in
such quantities that 1000 barrels have been taken in a sieve at one
draught. At the commencement of the scason the fisherman obtains
permission from the proprietor of the beach to erect his hut, and occupy
a certain space for his boat and yets, for which l.w pays at the end of
the season abarrel or more of cured mackarel, and one-twenticth of the
aggregate quantity of fresh fish besides. *The fishery is usually held by
shares; the oyner of the boat and nets taking one half of the produce.
and the fishermen he employs, the other, which is divided amongst them-
selves. Ome proprietor has been known to reccive nearly 2000 barrels
of mackarel in the year for his fishing grfounds, cach bartel worth 17s. 6d.
The quantity of herrings that throngs Annapolis Basin is imost incredible;
they are caught in weirs. Herring fishing commences in May and con-
tinues generally to September, sometimes until November; at one time
the fish remained so long that they were frozen in immense masses in the
weirs. After being properly selected and cleaned, they are smoked, and
packed in boxes of half-bushel size, 200 fish in cach box, and are shipped
for the West India market. The herring fishery on the other parts of
the coast is carried on in the usual way. Besides this “shore” fishery, the
Nova Scotians carry on a considerable cod fishery on the Labrador shore.
The fish is taken there, and generally brought to the ports of this pro-
vince to he cured.
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Value of Exports from and Imports to Nova Scotia in 1828, distinguishing
the several Countries, the number of Ships employed, and Tonnage.

i
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Quuntities of Fish, Flour, and Salt exported and imported, 1828.

Barrels of | Barrels | Hogsheads
Quintals of | "7 g | of o
[hry Fish. F‘i'nh‘. Flour. S(ult.
Exported . 175,128 40,526 (26,721
Tmported . 81,248| 3,439 176,696| 51,000
POPULATION.

The progress of the population of this province before the complete
establishment of the British dominion was very slow and uncertain.
Although the colony had been scttled for a period of about one hundred
and forty-four years, the Acadian, or French population, amounted in
1749 to no more than 18,000 souls. After the expulsion of this unfor-
tunate people in 1755, the British population was numbered at 5,000. By
an estimate made in 1764, the number of souls was 13,000, of whom 2,600
were Acadians, who had escaped™the general expulsion, or returned to
the province at the peace. It was estimated in 1772 at 19,100 souls, oY
whom 2,100 were Acadians, and 865 Indians. In consequence of the
American Revolution it was reduced to 12,000 in 1781, but 20,000
American loyalists having arrived in 1784, the number in that ycar was
computed to be 82,000, including New Brunswick and Cape Breton,
which were until then included in the province of Nova Scotia, but were
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about that time separated from it; the populatiop within the limits of
Nova Scotia, as it now stands, was estimated to be 20,400 souls. This
populations had increased in 1790 to 30,000 souls; from which time it
steadily, and, in‘many instances, rapidly advanced. By a census taken
in 1817, it was found to be 86,668 souls, and another censtis, taken with
great care and accuracy in 1827, gave the results exhibited in the general
statistical return of the province, made by the civil secretary 31st De-
cember, 1827.

The population of Cape Brcton. about 20,000, is npt included in
this census; and if that amount bc added to the réturns of Nova Scotia,
we shall Lavew population of 164,191 sowls in 1827.
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A statistical Return of ti Province of Nova Scotia, 31s{ day of
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March 31st, 1828.

* This seems an error, as the addition of the numbers of males and females, including servants, gives the number
found in our statement.

It is not easy to ascertain the increase of population derived from
cmigration as distinguished from the natural increase of the inhabitants.
1t is certain that natural increase has been very great in this province,
and such as is only, known in newly-settled countries, where the means
of providing for a farnily are easily acquired. It is equally certain that
there has been a considerable addition made to the population by immi-
gration even before the last census, 1827, although this province partook
less of the tide of emigration than the other North American colonies.
The mass of the present inhabitants consist of natives, the descend-
ants of the original emigrants from Great Britain, Ireland, Germany,
New England, and the Acadians. The majority of the people in the
eastern parts of the province, district of Pictou, and county of Sydney,
are of Scotch descent, and are a most industrious and enterprising por-



POPULATION~STATISTICS. 63

December, 1827, not including the County of Cape Breton.
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RUPERT D. GEORGE,

tion of the population. The Germans were settled at Halifax, Lunen-
burg, and at Clement’s, in the county of Annapolis; their descendandts
are numerous, but do not preserve any distinet character, as they have
always mixed with the general mass of the inhabitants. The early New
England settlers occupied the lands of the expelled Agadians about An-
napolis and the shores of the Alpinas Basin, and the American loyalists
were located all over the province; they very generally engaged in the
lumber trade and the fisheries, and were a most active and industrious class
Jf people. The descendants of those different people now form a popula-
tion so mixed up together, that all distinctive characteristics are lost. Not
so the Acadians; they settle together as much as possible, preserve their
religion, language, and customs, and never intermarry with their pro-
testant neighbours. As a people, they are moral, simple in their habits,
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cheerful in their disposition, and although neither sointelligent peghaps or
enterprising as the other inhabitants, sre contented and happy; they are
principally settled in the township of Clare, county of Anmapolis, and
Minudie, county of Cumberland. There are a few free blacks, who are
principally employed as domestic and agricultural servants, but there are
no slaves. There are a few Indians still in the province: in 1772 their
number did not excced 865 souls, and they have becn since then on the
decrease.  Isolated from their red brethren of the continent, and living
very much among the white inhabitants, they preserve but few of their
Indian characteristics; they are an indolent race, addicted’to drunken-
ness, and are seldom found steadily to adhere to industtious habits or
pursuits. In‘a few years not a trace of this once numerous people,
the original proprictors of the soil, will be found in this province; on
the whole, the predominant character of the people is Anglo-American.
They are genevally tall; the men stout, muscular, active, hardy, enter-
prising, and ingenious; the women, well made, and possessing much
feminine softness of manner., As the people live chiefly on their own
farms, and rely on their own exertions for support, they have much man-
liness of character, and a singular aptness in acquiring a tolerable degree
of skill in the more useful and common mechanical arts. A Nova Scotia
farmer will not only cultivate his own farm, but build his own house,
make his implements of husbandry, and even shoe his own horses. * He
iv in a great many instances a sailor, and can build and navigate the vessel
that conveys the produce of his own farm to market. The people are
hospitable and civil in their manners. It may be remarked, that inn-
keeping alone will not afford a subsistence in any part of the country
out of Halifax. .

There are several religious denominations in this province, all of
whom enjoy the most complete toleration, and are subject to no dis-
abilities whatever on account of religion. The number of each deno-
mination was found, at the census of 1827, to be church of England,
28,659 ; of Scotland, 37,225 ; of Rome, 20,401 ; baptists, 19,790 ; method-
ists, and other protestant sects, 17,771. The church of England in this
country is supported by the Society for Propagating the Gospel in Foreign



CLERGY OF THE VARIOUS PERSUASIONS. 65

Parts and by the British government. The clergy of this church consists
of a bishop, styled BisRop of Nova Scetia, whose jurisdiction extends over
New Brubwick,and the Bermudas,—and aboui thirty missionary clergy-
men, cach of whom receives a salary of 200/, one half fr(')m the crown,
and one half from the socicty, which, with the proceeds of small glebes,
parochial fees, &e. affords a tolerably comfortable maimtenance.  The
churches have been built by subscription, aided also by funds from the
crown and the society. Nova Scotia was crected into a bishopric in 1787.
The bishop possesses no lay jurisdigtion of any kin(l.: his authority is con-
fined to tlwpcrintvndcncc of the church of England ¢lergy within his
diocese. Fhe Presbyterians have an independent provincial chureh govern-
ment of their own, upon the model of the chureh of Scotland. The synod
generally meets at Pictou, and contains about thirty members, who are
dispersed over this provinee, New Brunswick, and Prince Edward Island,
and arc supported by their respective cohgregations. The Roman catho-
lies are under the control of a bishop, who resides at .Ahtignnish; theme
arc about twelve subordinate clergy, whe are altogether supported by
their respective congregations.  The baptist elergy have an anmual meet-
ing, called an Association, wherein they arrange the general concerns
of their church: but each baptist congregation is considered by them a
distinet independent church, and as such chooses and supports its own
clergyman.  The number of the clergy of this denomination is scarcely
sufficient to supply all the congregations.  The methodists compoSe
about one-half of the remaining sects ; they have about twenty mission-
aries connected with this province and Prince Kdward Island.  This
church is in all respects governed in the same mannee as the methodist
church in England, with which it is closely connected.  Its ministers
are supported by the people of their persuasion, assisted by the Knglish
Methodist Missionary Society. The other denominations, who are prin-
cipally Lutherans, and what in England are known as Independents, are
tolerably well supplied with ministers, each congregation supporting its
own. Such is the good feeling that prevails, that it is not uncommon in
this country to find the minister of one denomination officiating occa-
sionally for and in the churches of another. The chapels belonging to
all the different sects are numerous, and in many instances both com-
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modious and handsome, bearing ample testimony in favour of the religious
feeling of the country.

The education of the people is provided for as well as infany of the
British-American colonies. There is an university, called King’s Col-
lege, at VVindsor; Dalhousie College at Halifax ; academies at Pictou,
Annapolis, and Kentville; grammar-schools at Halifax, Windsor, Pictou,
and Kentville. The Society for Propagating the Guspel supports between
forty and fifty schoolmasters; and schools have been established in all the
townships, aided by a very liberal pecuniary grant from the provincial
legislature. The university of King’s College was established by royal
charter in 1802 it is enabled to confer the usual degree's': 'the Arch-
bishop of Canterbury is patron; and the board of governors is composed
of the licutenant-governor of the province, the bishop, chief-justice,
speaker of the House of Assembly, the attorney and the solicitor-general,
and the president or principal of the university, all for the time being.
"Fherc are four ‘professors: onc of Hebrew and divinity, one of moral
science and metaphysics, one of mathematics, astronomy, and natural
philosophiy, and one of grammar, rhetoric, and logic. The students are
eligible for matriculation at the age of fourteen, and the course occupies
from four to seven years. There are twelve divinity scholarships, en-
dowed by the Society for Propagating the Gospel, each enjoying 307
per anmun for seven years. There are also some scholarships on the foun-
dation of less emolument. The college possesses a large well-selected
library, and a valuable philosophical apparatus. Subordinate to the col-
lege, and under its control, is the collegiate school; the system of educa-
tion is preparatory to that of the college, for which it is intendgd. There
are twelve divinity scholarships, supported also by the society, who allow
each 30/ per annum, and they may be held for seven years.

Dalhousie College (at Halifax) was incorporated in 1820 ; the system
of education was framed upon the model of the university of Edinburgh.
There are three professorships : one for the Greek and Latin classics, one
for mathematics, natural and experimental philosophy, and one for theo-
logy and moral philosophy. The academy at Pictou was projected in
1804, and incorporated by charter in 1816 ; it was erected and supported
by subscriptions among the presbyterians, for whose benefit it was prin-
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cipal]y. projected. The House of Assembly has voted 400/. annually for
several years in aid of this instjtution. The course of education here
includes the usnal branches of academical instruction, and occupies four
years. There are at present three professors. It possesses a small but
valuable library, and has the best museum of natural history in Nova
Scotia. The academy of Annapolis was cstablished in 1827, partly by
voluntary subseription, and partly by provincial aid. There are two
distinct but connected schools—one devoted to the higher branches of
classical education, the other confined to, the elementary and higher
branches usually taught in Englisl: schools.



CHAPTER V.
The Legislature—Courts of Law—Public Revenue—=Sable Island.

T legislature of the province is composed of a lieutenant-governor,
a council, and an House of Assgmbly. The whole of British North America
is gencerally comprised under one command, the captain-general, governor,
and commander-in-chief, who resides at Quebec. The govoﬁ’mrg of the re-
spective provinces are styled lieutenant-governors, and in their civil capa-
cities are quite independent of the governor-general. The governor of
Nova Scotia has the local rank of licutenant-general, and is styled lien-
tenant-governos, commander-in-chief, chancellor, and vice-admiral of the
provinee of Nova Scotia. The whole executive authority is vested in the
governor: he summons, prorogues, and dissolves the council and general
assembly ; he appoints to all offices not disposed of by the crown ; he can
pardon all offenders but those guilty of treason and murder; he com-
mands the army and militia, and presides in the Courts of Chancery and
Error. Besides various fees and emoluments, he receives a handsome
annual allowance or salary. In the event of the governor's dcath, the
next senior member of council, not being the chicf-justice, exercises all
the functions of governor.

The legislative council consists of twelve members, appointed by
mandamus from the king. In their legislative capacity they meet and
deliberate as a distinet chamber or upper house, and conduct their pro-
ceedings as closely in imitation of the House of Lords as circumstances
allow. They are also a council of state, or privy council to the governor,
whose advice he is obliged to obtain and act upon in a great variety of
cases. They form, with the governor, the Court of Error and the Eccle-
siastical Court, in whose deliberations the governor has only a single
voice; they are styled honourable, hold their office merely during the
king’s pleasure, and the governor can suspend them until the king’s
pleasure be signified. The House of Assembly resembles the British
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House of Commons in its formation, powers, and mode of procedure
as closely as the circuipstances of the country permlt The members are
elected exgetly as in England, by frecholders possessing recal estates in
houses or lands of the annual value of 40s. The assembly continues for
seven yecars, and must meet at least once a year, but may be dissolved or
prorogued by the governor. '

The number of members elected to the House of Assembly is forty-
one: four for the county, and two-for the town of Halifax; two for each
of the other nine counties of Annapolis, Cumberland, Cape Breton, Hants,
King’s County, Lunenburg, Queln’s (,ount), Shelburne, and Sydney
and one fmh of the following towns—Annapolis, Amherst, Barring-
ton, Cor m\allls. Digby, Falmouth, Granville, Horton, I.iverpool, Lon-
donderry, Liinenburg, Newport, Onslow, Shelburne, Truro, Windsor,
and Yarmouth. The legislature meets generally in winter, and con-
tinues in session from six to twelve weeks, and the dcbatc' are often
conducted with ability and spirit.  Lvery law in thl,c provinee must
have received the concurrent assent of thc House of Assembly, of tlw
council, and of the governor, before it ¢in be enforced ; and cach may
dissent from any law or bill proposed or approved of by the others. Upon
any bill passing the house and council, and receiving the assent of the
governor, it immediately operates in the provinee ; but to make it 2 per-
manent law it must be submitted to the king in council, who may con-
firm or disallow it. In the event of its being disallowed by the king, or
no! confirmed within three years from the time of its enactment, it be-
comes void.

The courts of law are, the Court of Chancery, of which the governor
is sole judyge, by virtue of his office, but where the Master of the Rolls,
always a professional man, sits as judge in lieu of the governor. The
powers of this court are, within the colony, the same as those of the
Lourt of Chancery in England, and its proceedings similar in form. An
appeal lies from this court to the king in council. The Court of Krror
is composed of the governor and council. An appeal lies from all the
infcrior courts to this, and from this to the king in council. The sub-
ject-matter of the appeal, in the former instance, must exceed 300/
in value, and in the latter 500/. The Supreme Court is invested with
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the powers of the King’s Bench, Common Pleas, and Exchequer. It is
composed of a chief and three puisne judges, and a circuit associate.
The jurisdiction of the court is both criminal and civil, and extends over
the whole province, including Cape Breton; it holds four terms in the
year at Halifax. The whole province is divided into four circuits, Cape
Breton being one, into which the judges go and hold courts of assize, &c.
The practitioners in this court unite the business of barrister and attor-
ney. The inferior courts are courts c¢f common pleas in each county,
having jurisdiction in all civil matters under the value of 5. Therc arc
three distinct commistioners, or judges, each of whom holds a distinct
court in every county within his circuit, the province beingﬁ‘i'v’idcd into
three circuits for that purpose. The process and course of practice are
similar to those of the Supreme Court. The process issued by the courts
of the province is of the same naturc and operation as the process of the
courts at Westminster; besides which there is a peculiar process affecting
absent or abscofrglipg debtors, by which their property in the colony is
attached, and unless security be given, is sold for the benefit of the
creditor. There are also courts of general and quarter sessions, similar
in all respects to such courts in England, held in each county; and in
every township small debts are recoverable before courts consisting of
one or more justices of the peace. The governor, being ordinary of the
province by virtue of his office, appoints surrogates in the several coun-
ties, by whose probates letters of administration, &c. are granted.

The statute of distribution in Nova Scotia is different from the same
statute in England, in so far that the real estate is divided into shares,
according to the number of children, and the eldest son takes only fwo
of such shares. The reason for this alteration of the law of the mother
country is, that in a new country the improvement of the landed estate
is likely to absorb the whole personal property of the proprietor, and that
if it went to the eldest son, there would be no provision for the other-
children ; on this ground it was that this law, which prevailed in all the
English-American colonies, was approved of by the king in council.

There is also a Vice-Admiralty Court at Halifax. This court has
the usual admiralty civil jurisdiction. It has also a peculiar revenue
jurisdiction, and in time of war a prize jurisdiction : the duties of judge
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are at.present performed by the chief-justice of the Supreme Court.
There are sheriffs and*justices ofsthe peace in all the counties, both ap-
pointed edactly as such officers are in England.

From this sketch it will appear that the government and institutions
of this province are in all respects as similar to those of England as the
nature and circumstances of a new country will allow; the unrivalled
constitution of the mother country being the grand model by which
the institutions of this minor, but not unimportant vortion of her de-
pendencies have been framed and gstablished.

The ms@vincial revenue is not very large, nor are the demands upon
it very col;"izazerablc. It consists principafly of custom and excise duties,
trifling in ampount, and by no means onerous to the colonists. "T'he whole
is applied to provincial purposes, the greater part in the making of roads,
bridges, &c., and a considerable sum in promoting education. There is
a custom-housc cstablishment at Halifa%, which, considering the nature
of its duties, and the amount of revenue collected, is remarkably elegant.
"T'he gross amount of the customs in the year 1827 was, 25,416/, out of
which a sum of 8,890/ was deducted for the fees and salaries of the cus-
tom-house officers. T'he collector at Halifax has, in salary and fees, 2,0007
and the comptroller 1,000/ a year. The receipt and expenditure of the
provincial revenue for the year 1828 were as follows:

Received. Paid,
L s d £ & &
Excise duties . ) . 35,099 17 10} | Government department . 2,762 16 11
Customs ditto . . . 18,000 0 0 | Legislature . 5 . 3026 0 0
Light ditto .. . 1,313 9 6 | Judicature <+ . 515018 6
Sundries . . . 762 16 4 | Revenue : L5111 7
Militia i . . 215618 9
Navigation . : . 317915 2
Road service . . . 20762 6 3
Education " . . 3347 3 24
Miscellanies e . . 8853 13 01
55176 3 8 59,751 10 7

The difference was paid from a balance remaining in hand from the
prior year *.

* For a great part of the valuable details conveyed in this and the preceding chupter we
are indebted to the lucid, accurate, und comprehensive labours of Mr. Halliburton, which we
are most happy here, as elsewhere, to acknowledge.
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ISLE OF SABLE.

Sable I_sl:;.nd. or Isle aux Sables, although distant eighty-five miles
from Nova Scotia, is considered as belonging to that province. The west
end of the island lies in latitude 43° 56" 42" north, and longitude 60°17 15"
west, and the east end in latitude 43°59' 5" and longitude 59° 42" it is
about thirty miles in length and fifteen in breadth. It consists entirely
of an accumulation ot"l()osc white sand, utterly barren, produging neither
tree nor shrub. It lies in the direct track of vessels homxﬁ{oﬂnd from
Europe, and upon it very many have been wrecked, and npmerous lives
lost. An establishment was formed in 1804 upon this island for the
purposc of assisting persons wrecked: it consists of a superintendant
and about ten ussistants, who constantly reside on the island, and have
in charge a competent sapply of such articles as would be useful in
cases of shipwreck. The establishment was maintained by the provinee
of Nova Scotia from 1804 to 1827 at an annual expense of about 500/ ;
but in the latter year the British government undertook to add a fur-
ther sum equal to that voted by the province, whereby the establishment
has been enlarged, and its usefulness very much increased. The super-
intendant and his assistants continually perambulate the island. There
aie several signal-posts and flag-staffs to direct vessels, and huts to shelter
the sufferers. The island is regularly visited to convey supplies, and
bring away those who may have been thrown upon its shores. The supply
of stores and provisions is always abundant, so that 300 persons at once
upon the island have been liberally subsisted and supplied with all neces-
saries. There never were any inhabitants on the island but those con-
nected with the establishment. The only native animals to be met with
are some wild horses, whose flesh has been occasionally found a providential
substitute for better food ; a few seals are caught upon the shore. The
coast is exceedingly dangerous, and almost every where surrounded with
breakers. o .



CHAPTER VI.
*Care BreTon—Situation— Lxtent—ivisions - Harbours— Soil—Settlements.

The island of CarE BrrroNconstitutes a county of the provinee of
Nova Scotia. Its extent is t‘(]llil]. to aboyt one-fourth of that of Nova
Scotia Pruer, and its population bears nearly the same proportion, yet
it rct.nrn::%ﬁ' twe members to the provineial House of Assembly for
the whole county.  This island, formerly called by thé French when
they held it L’Isle Royale, forms with Newfoundland the entrance of
the Gulf of St. Lawrence, and is situated between the latitudes 45° 27
and 47° 5" north, including the islands *of Madame, Scadari, Boulardrie,
St. Paul's, and minor islands, and longitude 59" 38 and 61° 50" wess;
«its greatest length north-cast and south-west being about 100 miles, and
the greatest width from south-east to north-west about cighty miles, com-
prising an arca of about 2,000,000 acres, exclusive of the great masses of
water contained within it. It is distant from the south-western extremity
of Newfoundland about sixteen leagues, and is divided from Nova Scotia
by St. George's Bay and the Gat of Canscau, twenty-one miles in length,
and varying from one mile to one and a half in width. Its shape is nearly
triangular, indented with many decp bays, and nearly scparated by the
waters of the Bras d’Or into two natural divisions; the one to the north
being high. bold, and steep ; the other to the south, 1gw, and intersected
by water; diversified with moderate elevations, and gradually rising from
the interior shore of the Bras d’Or, until it presents abrupt cliffs towards
the ocean. There are not any mountains, properly so called, in the
island ; the highest ridges in the southern division do not perhaps ex-
ceed an altitude of 600 feet. The highlands in the northern division
_are more elevated, bolder, and continuous; but even there the supposed
highest point, Smoky Cape, does not probably exceed five hundred yards.
There are several fresh water lakes, some of which are of no inconsiderable
magnitude. The largest are Lake Marguecrite, in the northern division,
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about ferty miles in circumference, and the Grand River and Mire Lakes
in the southern division; besides several others.differing in size and
shape, and scattered all over the island. The rivers, or rather rivulets
and brooks, are numerous, but small, and not navigable. "l‘hc whole coast
of the southern division is broken into harbours, many of them of great
depth and magnitude; but the northern coast does not afford nearly. so
many. The principal harbours for vessels of burden are the Bras d’Or,
with its innumerable minor harbours, Sydney, Louisburg, Arichat, Basin
of Inhabitants, Ship Harbour in Cansca‘u Strait, Port Hood, and St. Anne’s;
besides several others of less importance.

The Bras d’Or is a vast internal sea, occupying a corfsidegable por-
tion of the area of Cape Breton, intersccting with its numerous arms
every part of it, and dividing it almost into two islands. The entrance
is on the eastern side of the island, facing Newfoundland, and it is
divided into two- passages by Boulardrie Island. The southern passage
is, called Little Bras d’Or; the northern passage, Great Bras d’Or; and
the large sheet of inland watgrs itself, Bras d’Or, or the Great l.ake.
A sunken bar at the mouth of the Little Bras d’Or renders it unnavi-
gable for vessels of heavy burden, and it is therefore never used. It is
about twenty-three miles in length, and from a quarter of a mile to
three miles wide. The Great Bras d’Or has no impediment to its navi-
gation ; it has above sixty fathom water, is from two to three miles wide,
and about twenty-five miles in length: when at the head of Boulardrie
Island it is joined by the Little Bras d’Or, and a few miles further on
enters the Great Lake through the Straits of Barra. The Great Bras
d’Or, before its junction with the Little one, or with the lake, communi-
cates with, or rather sends its waters into the interior, forming several
excellent harbours to the north-west of the Great Lake. The first is
Bedeque Bay, and farther on a fine sheet of water called Whycocomagh
Basin, upwards of forty miles from the main sea, and where the timber
ships from England usually load. After passing the Straits of Barra the
Great Lake sends off a number of branches. On the northern side the
first is Brooklesby Bay, which runs to within half a mile of Whycoco-
magh Bay; next is the River Denys Basin, six miles long, and two
broad, with numerous smaller branches, in which also the timber vessels
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load ; ,next follows St. George’s Channel, which is six miles wide at its
opening, is filled witle creeks and inlets. and runs up, towards the Gut of
Canseau stde of the island, fifteen miles. On the southern shore the centre
proceeds south-westerly through a number of small islands to the isthmus
of St. Peter; thence again north-casterly, it makes a course of thirty-one
miles to the head of East Bay, or St. Andrew’s Channel, terminating in
the Barrasoi, or Lagune of Twcednooge, (this bay is eighteen miles in
length); from the north-eastern point of which at Benakady, it is five
miles to the Straits of Barra, on which tegminates the circuit of the Bras
4'Or. F the entrance of the Great Bras d'Or to the head of the Great
Lake at §t. P’¥ter’s is above fifty miles in a straight course, and its greatest
width about twenty miles. The depth varies from twelve fo sixty fathors,
and it is every where secure and navigable. This extensive sheet of in-
ternal waters is of peculiar advantage to the island, for, exclusive of the
fishery, which is carried on there to a donsiderable extént, it spreads out
into such an extensive and ramified navigation, as to afford every part
»of the island the benefit of water commuypnication, and enables every dis-
trict, almost every farm, to ship its own produce without the inter-
vention of land carriage. V

The Isthmus of St. Peter, which divides the waters of the Bras ¢’Or
from the Atlantic Ocean at St. Peter’s Bay, is so narrow that a canal could
be easily made between the two waters for ship navigation. The ground
has been examined and surveved by an eminent enginecr, who hasere-
ported upon the complete practicability of such a work, and has estimated
the expense at no more than 17,150/, The whole length of the canal
required, would not exceed 3,000 feet. 'The princjpal part of the ex-
pense would be the necessary works at the points of communication with
both seas.

The soil of Cape Breton is considered quite equal to that of Nova
Scotia, or any of the neighbouring countries. There is no dike land,
such as is found in Nova Scotia, but the upland is of an excellent qua-
lity, and very productive; the increase of wheat on new land being in
general ten or twelve fold. It is found capable of producing wheat,
barley, oats, maize, potatees, turnips, huckwheat, peas, beans, &e¢. 1t
has been before remarked, that the area of the island comprises about

L2
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2,000,000 acres, exclusive of the great salt waters. Of this, 685,640 acres
were granted away to settlers by the crown up tothe year 1821; of the
remainder, about 800,000 acres are supposed to be contained ir the small
lakes, hills, barrens, and swamps, leaving about 500,000 acres of land fit
for cultivation undisposed of and distributed in several parts of the island. -
The greater part of the disposable land lies in the interior of the northern
division of the island, between the gulf shore and the Bras d’Or waters.
In the section of country between PPort Hood, Whycocomagh, the Rivers
St. Denis and Inhabitants, the Bras ¢’Or and the Gulf Shore, it is esti-
mated that there are about 120,000 acres of good upland, fit for settle-
ment; and in the north-castern peninsula, from S$t. Anne’s Bay on
the one side and Take Marguerite on the other to Cape St. Lawrence,
there are supposed to be about 150,000 acres more. In the southern |,
division through its whole length, from St. Peter’s on the west to Sydney
on the east, in the interior, including the lands on the Grand-River Lake
atd Mire Lake, there are supposed to be no less than 200,000 acres of
good land undisposed of ; besides which there are several other smallers
portions scattered through the island.

The Island of Cape Breton, as has been before observed, is naturally
divided by the Bras d’Or Lake into two parts, the northern and the
southern. As a county, it has been divided into three districts—the
north-eastern, north-western, and southern, without any respect to its
natural divisions. The north-eastern district has been subdivided into
the townships of Sydney, St. Andrew’s, and St. Patrick ; and the north-
western district into the townships of Canseau, Port Hood, Ainslie, and
Marguerite; the southern district, being by much the smallest of the
three, has not been as yet subdivided into townships. In describing the
country, we shall adhere to the natural divisions.

Sydney is the shire town and capital of the island, and a free port.
It is situated on the harbour of that name, on the eastern coast of the
southern division of the island. The courts of justice and public offices
are kept here, and here also the principal officers of the island reside. It
contains about sixty houses, besides a government-house, government-
stores and barracks, a court-house; likewise episcopual, Roman catholic, and
dissenting churches. The streets are regularly laid out, the houses tolerably
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good, and the grounds in the vicinity cultivated with some taste, so that
on the whole it presents a pleasing appearance. The population is about
500 souls® Thg harbour is one of the most capacious and secute in the
provinces; it is two miles wide at its entrance, four miles above which
it diverges into two extensive arms, upon one of which, about seven
miles from the sea, the town of Sydney is built, on a peninsula affording
abundant suitable situations for wharfs, dock-yards, &e. The surrounding
country is one of the finest agricultural tracts in the island : the advan-
tages for carrying on the fishery gre excellent. The priuci'pul coal-works
are carrisl,on in the neighbourhood, where usefuf timber abounds. The
vicinity f these works must eventually render Sydney a place of con-
siderable importance.

All the settlements in Cape Breton have been made on the shores of
the Atlantic, of the Gulf, and of the Bras d'Or.  None have as yet been
made to any considerable distance in tlfe interior; and ell the points on
those shores fit for settlement are occupied. The lihe of coast from the

' Bras d'Or to Cow Bay may be called the gpal coast, the whole range being
faced with cliffs streaked with veins of that mineral.

The principal settlement is Sydney. There are several other small
scttlements along the shore, upon Lingen Bay, Windham River or Glace
Bay, and Cow Bay, all of which have bars at their entrance, and are shoal
harbours; but the adjacent lands are very fertile, and abound with fine
timber. The settlers, consisting principally of the descendants of Ameriean
loyalists, Scotch, and Irish, are industrious and comfortable. Miray Bay
is a large arm of the sea into which falls the River Miray. This river, or
rather su cession of narrow lakes, has its source abopt forty miles in the
interior, but its entrance being obstructed by a bar, its navigation does
not afford all those advantages that otherwise belong to it: the lands
upon it and around the bay are good, but the soil Jight : the best portion
of it, consisting of about 100,000 acres, although granted some years ago
to 100 individuals, has never been settled on or improved. There are
several settlements on the bay, wherein agricultural operations are not
considered as secondary to the fisheries. Beyond Miray Bay lies the
small harbour of Menadon, or Main-d-dien, on which is a settlement of
active fishermen, who are also engaged in the coal and coasting trade from
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Sydney ¢to Halifax: this is one of the busiest and most thriving settlements
in this part of the coast. Opposite this.place is the island of Scatari, the
casternmost dependance of Cape Breton; and Port Novy Land, or Cape
Breton, from which the island has been named, the most easterly point of
Breton Island itself. The once-famed harbour of Louisburg is utterly
deserted ; although capacious and secure, no settlement has been made
upon it since the destruction of the town ; and what was once, if not the
largest, certainly the most splendid town of I.a Nouvelle France, is now
without an inhabitant. Beyond Louisburg the deep bay of Gabarus opens;
and from thence to St. Esprit there are three or four small fishing inlets.
The tract of country from Miray to St. Esprit is of inferior quality, de-
stitute of timber, barren, and hilly; and with the exception of a fine tract
here and there, unfit for settlement, and uninhabited. At St. Esprit the
country again improves; and upon the banks of the Grand River, and
the chain of lakes out of which ¥t issues, the soil is of an excellent qua-
lity, and is now being settled by Scottish emigrants.

From Grand River to the Gut of Canseau, the whole shore, including
the Isle Madame, is of the same general character; it is indented by a
great number of small coves and inlets, and occupied by Acadians, who
are chiefly employed in the fisheries. The land on the whole of this part
of the coast is of superior quality, and the settlements are populous and
thriving. These are principally situated at Ardoise, River Tillard, River
Beurgeois, False Bay, Grand Anse, the inlets on the northern shore of
Lenox Passage (itself a harbour of great extent, separating Isle Madame
from the main land), Inhabitants River, and Caribacou Cove, where this
series of Acadian sgttlements terminates. A number of Scotchmen have
settled at the upper end of Grand Anse.Bay, and are chiefly engaged in
agriculture, the land being very good ; but the Acadians whom we have
Jjust mentioned devote themselves almost exclusively to the fisheries and
the coasting trade. Both sides of Inhabitants River, which runs parallel
with the Gut of Canseau for nearly fifteen miles, are settled nearly down
to its mouth, and also across to the shore of the Bras d’Or Lake, and in
the direction of the River St. Denis.

The Isle Madame, separated from the main land of Cape Breton by
St. Peter’s Bay and Lennox Passage, is about sixteen miles in length
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and five in breadth, indented with numerous harbours, and possessing
a tolerably good soil. , It is situgted near to the Atlantic side of the Gut
of Canseau, and peculiarly caleulated for prosecuting the fishery. The
principal port is Arichat*, now, and for many years past, the seat and
centre of the fishing cstablishments of the Jersey merchaits, who exp(.)rt
their produce hence to the West Indies, the Mediterranean, and the Bra-
zils. It is a fine harbour, accessible at all times. The town is situate on
the harbour, and is fast increasing in size, appearance, and population,
and is the most important commc:ciul port of Cape Breton.

'l‘heJ}“rus d’Or shore of the southern division®of the island is settled
more or lessealong its whole length, commencing at that part of the
Grand Lake called St. George’s Channel, and bending round to St.
Peter’s; there are settlements every where, principally composed of Scot-
tish highlanders, formed at various periods since 1800; and from St.
Peter’s, the coast, to the head of St. Andrew’s Bay at I wcednooge, and
thence again on the north side of that bay down to Benakady, the sarge
;scttlements are continued along the shore, but do not in general pene-
trate far inland. To give a goneral/ﬂea of the settlements on this
southern division of the island, it may be observed, that from the Little
Bras d’Or to Miray Bay on the eastern shore, and thence to the Grand
River on the southern shore, the settlements are scattered along the coast
at every available part, the population being composed of English, Irish,
Scotch, and American loyalists, mixed together, who are equally en-
gaged in agricultural pursuits as in the fishery; that from Grand River
the whole western coast to Caribacou on the Gut of Canseau, the settle-
ments are all composed of Acadians, engaged princiyiﬂly in the fishery,
coasting, and boat-building ; and that the Bras d’Of coast is occupied by
Scotch settlements, whose population is certainly agricultural, though
partially engaged in the fisheries.

The northern natural division of the island commences at Ship Har-
bour, on the Gut of Canseau, from which to Port Hood there is no con-

Some years back I sailed from Quebec to Arichat, and thence to Halifux, in a small
schooner which belonged to the former port, and was somewhat peculiarly circumstanced : she
was called the Mother, was communded by the father, and navigated by his three sons ; on her
next voyage she was wrecked, and the whole family unfortunately perished.
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siderable harbour, although there are several inlets. The land on the
whole of this coast is good, and thickly settled by Scottish emigrants,
who have extended themselves four or five miles inland all thesway, and
are employed in agriculture. Port Hood is a spacious, safe harbour, fit
for the largest vessels, and is the most imnportant place in the northern
division. The courts, &c. are held here, and it carries on a considerahle
trade in agricultural produce to Newfoundland. From Port Hood to
Marguerite, on the Gulf Shore, the same line of Scottish agricultural
settlements continues upwards of thirty miles along shore, and extends
some distance back towards the interior. These form the largesf, series of
continued settlements in the island. The coast is high and 'b()/ld; there
are no harbours except that of Mabou, which admits only small vessels.
Lake Marguerite lies between the Gulf Shore and the Bras d'Or, from
which Salmon River runs into Port Marguerite. The land on both sides
of this river for several miles, and along the coast northward for sixteen
miles more, as far as Chetecan, the most northern settlement on this shore,
is entirely settled by Acadians. These people, although nccessarily agri- |
cultural, still devote much attentign to the fishery. There is a consider-
able village at Marguerite, and the Jersey markets have an establishment
at Chetican, in both of which places a considerable trade is carried on.
Returning to the Bras d’Or coast of this northern division of the
island, the next considerable places of scttlement after St. George’s Bay
are- the Basin and River Denis and Brooklesby Inlet; the former is a
noble harbour, where the timber-ships load, and where a ship-yard is
established, wherein good ships have been built for British owners. The
whole coast is settled by Scotch emigrants. The land is every where fit
for agriculture ; and as the settlements do not extend far back from the
shores, there is yet a considerable quantity of disposable land in these
districts. The same observations apply, in short, to the whole coast—
on the Straits of Barra, from Whycocomagh Basin, Bernakady Bay, and
the numerous creeks, inlets, and rivers branching out from and falling
into them, the land is every where of good quality, agricultural settle-
ments are very frequent, and their population is fast increasing in num-
bers and wealth. Without the Bras d’Or, is St. Anne’s Bay, by the
French called Fort Dauphin. This is a fine harbour, about eight miles
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in length and three in width, and afterwards branching out jnto two
extensive arms. The whole coyntry around the .bay is settled by Scot-
tish emigeants, whose chief employment is agriculture, as well as the
fishery. The settlements on this bay, though founded scarcely ten years
ago, are now amongst the most flourishing in the island, #nd the popula-
tion marked for its industrious habits. The only settlements on this
coast farther north are the Niganish Bay and at Aspey Bay, where there
are a few families engaged in the fishery. With the exception of these
settlements, the northern division of the island, from St. Anne’s Har-
bour on Q\g side and Cheticamp .on the ();her, t?Cape North, is wholly
unoccupied, and little known, but it is represented as containing a con-
siderable %mntlty of good land perfectly adapted for settlement. At
this, its northcrn extremity, the island is only eight miles in width from
Cape St. Laurent to Cape North. The shore between these capes forms
a crescent, and the land sloping down ¢o the shores of fhe bay is repre-
sented as possessing an excellent soil.

The island of Cape Breton, forming the eastern barrier of the gulf
of St. Lawrence, commands the usual, jfhd indeed (with the exception of
the circuitous route of the Straits of Belleisle) the only access from the
Atlantic by the Gut of Canseau on the south, and the passage between
this island and Newfoundland on the north. Itis, in fact, from its relative
situation, the key of the Gulf of St. Lawrence ; and being provided with
excellent harbours, the naval power in possession of it will be the arbiters
of the commerce of the Canadas, Prince Edward Island, and all the coast

bounding that gulf.
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CHAPTER VIIL

Climate—Mines~-Resources— Population— Agriculture— Fisheries—Trade.

THE climate of Cape Breton is very similar to that of Nova Scotia,
and is considered by the inhabitants to be quite as conducive to health
and favourable to agricultural'pursuits as that of any of'the British-
American provinces. The winter lasts from the beginning 09’November
to the end of April. The cold is sometimes intense, and has been known
at thirty-two degrees below zero; +% is not uncommon, but the fluctuations
are more frequent than on the continent; a partial thaw generally takes
place every day, and the mercury, often, below zero in the morning, rises
to sixty or seventy at noon. Frequent thaws of a fortnight’s continuance
are experienced in the winter, fo Mwed by renewed frost and snow, vicis-
situdes which render that season perhaps more disagreeable here than on
the continental provinces. The summer months are usually dry and
warm on the eastern coast, but rather moist on the western; fogs do not
prevail in the eastern and northern parts of the island, but along the
western and southern coasts they are more common. The mean heat
in summer is about 80° in the shade, but it often increases to ninety-six
(in the shade) and 120° in the sun. The spring, as in all cold countries,
is short—the summer intensely hot—rvegetation rapid—and autumnal
maturity quickly succeeds; thus are three seasons all included between
May and October. Planting and sowing take place in May—flowers are
out in June—fruits in July—reaping engrosses August and September—
all must be safe in October. On the whole the climate of Cape Breton is
somewhat colder in winter and hotter in summer, more irregular, and
therefore less pleasant than that of the neighbouring peninsula and pro-
vinces, although perhaps quite as favourable generally to health and agri-
cultural productions.
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The natural productions of this island are in 2ll respects similar to
those of Nova Scotia. The timber on the island is of a sturdy growth,
and differs but little in its varieties and character from that of Nova
Scotia; and it is every where very plentiful, and within rgach of places
of shipment.

* The coal found in Cape Breton is of the best quality; a specimen
has been carefully analysed, and found to contain only three-quarters of
an unit per cent. of extraneous substance. Coal is traced in the western
part of the island, on Inhabitants &iver, & Port Hood, and at Mabou.
This field%ws never been worked or examined, but the indications are
decided and numerous. The eastern, or Sydney coal field, is very ex-
tensive: it commences at Miray Bay, and follows the course of the shore
-all round to the Great Bras d’Or, being in length about forty miles, and
averaging five miles in width. ¥rom a minute calcglation, after de-
ducting harbours, bays, and all other interpositions, it, appears that there
arc 120 square miles of land containing available veins of coal. It is
Supposed the veins in many places ru t into the sea ten miles from
the shore. There are fourteen distinct#veins, one over another, varying
from three to eleven feet in thickness; and there are extensive works
now carried on at Sydney Harbour and at Lingan by the lessees of the
late Duke of York, Messrs. Rundell and Bridge. Gypsum is found in
almost all parts of the island. In the Island of Boularderie it forms
a cliff several miles in length, where large vessels may take it in. t.
is found at Bedique, at Whycocomagh on the River Denn, or Denis,
at Barra Straits, at St. Anne’s Harbour, at Aspey Bay, at Cape North,
and at Plai ter Cove on the Gut of Canseau, where grfat quantities have
been annually exported. It is every where of the very best description,
and may be conveyed immediately from the quarries on shipboard.

Several salt springs have been discovered ; the principal at Bedeque,
at Wagamatcook, at Whycocomagh, and other places on the Bras d'Or
Lake. They vary in strength, producing from six to twelve per cent. of
salt. Situated in the heart of the best fisheries of North America, and
where coal is so abundant, the manufacture of salt promises to become
hereafter a most valuable source of wealth to the colony.
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Iron ore abounds every where in the coal field about Lingan, Sydney,
&c., and at Cape North and Aspey Bay" specxmens from the latter place
have yielded sixty per cent. of pure metal.

The natuyal riches of this island seem to consist preeminently in its
fisheries. There is no place along the coasts of America, with the ex-
ception of Newfoundland, where the fish is so abundant and so good, or
which is so well adapted for taking and curing it. The fish, consisting
of those varieties taken in Newfoundland—cod, herrings, mackarel, &c.
swarm on the whole ¢past, anyd in all the harbours, exterior and interior.
In fact, every farmer and settler in Cape Breton may, and in g.neral does,
become as much a fisherman as an agriculturist, uniting the'tvg‘a- profitable
occupations, drawing wealth alike from the land and the ocean.

The population of Cape Breton is, like that of Nova Scotia, a good
deal mixed, being composed of Acadians, and people of Scottish, Irish,
English, and Arminian origin. The most numerous are the Scotch, who
spring principally from the Highlands. The Irish do not permanently
settle in any considerable numbers, and the inhabitants of English de-
scent are few. Next to the Scotti h, the Acadians are the most numerous
class; they are industrious and active, principally employed in the fisheries,
preserving, but not in so marked a manner as in Nova Scotia, their own
language, customs, and religion. The settlers from Scotland and of Scot-
tish descent are equally noted for industry, uniting more than the Aca-
dians do the occupations of farming and lumbering with the fishery.
All the Acadians and the greatér number of the Scottish are Roman
catholics. Presbyterians are few in number, nor are the members of the
church of England: at all numerous. There is no public provision made
to support the clergy of any denomination, and therefore every sect pro-
vides for its own pastors. From the absence hitherto of competent schools,
there being merely one or two at Sydney and at Arichat, the native part
of the population have been almost wholly without the means of becoming
educated, and the population on the whole may be considered therefore
as very badly provided with the means of acquiring even the first rudi-
ments of education. The number of the inhabitants has been lately
estimated as high as 80,000: in 1814 it was, upon a census taken thut
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year, rgted at 8,000: it therefore appears to have more than trebled itself
in about sixteen years. There aye about 300 Indians still remaining in
Cape Breton, which are included in the above-stated population: they
are scattered on five small tracts of land reserved for them, upon w}uch
they grow maize and potatoes ; some of them possess cdttle, but their -
principal employment is hunting and fishing. They are generally sta.
tionary during the winter, remaining at their settlements ; in the summer
they wander along the shores, and skirt the inland waters of the island.
All the distinetive traits of Indlan character are softened down or lost;
and they «re a quiet, temperate race.

This is slartd havi ing becn annexed to Nova Scotia in 1820, the govern-
ment, laws',‘ﬁ,ic. are of course the same as in that colony. Indeed the laws
and ordinances of Nova Scotia were, by an express act of the provincial
legislature, extended to Cape Breton. It was erected into a county, and
now sends two members to the House of Assembly ; a npmber certainly
not commensurate with its relative extent, populatidn, wealth, and in-
ortance, in all which respects this island is probably equal to one-fifth
of the whole colony, while its share ofj#presentation in the legislature
is scarcely in the proportion of one-twentieth.

There existed a small revenue, arising from a duty of one shilling
per gallon on imported spirituous liquors, collected before the island was
annexed to Nova Scotia, which had been expended in local improve-
ments, &c. That revenue, which continues to be exacted since the unian,
amounts to about four or five thousand pounds per annum, which sum
is applied generally to the domestic purposes of the colony.

Agnculture is here quite in its infancy, and thﬁ;e are few persons
whose pursuits are confined to that object, and none but the settlers who
labour on their own lands find it answer at all. The soil, productions,
and seasons are similar to those of Nova Scotia, and the system of farming
less perfect, bears still a close analogy to that of the peninsula. The ex-
pense of clearing new land is about three pounds per acre, not including
buildings of any kind. The wages of labour from twenty to thirty
pounds per annum, besides board and lodging. Wheat is not very gene-
rally grown, but oats and petatoes are raised to a considerable extent, so
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as indeed to afford a surplus of both for exportation. Live stock thrives
as well as in the neighbouring colonies, and slso affords a moderate sur-
plus for export.

The colonists build all their own vessels in Cape Breton, and a few
ships are annually built there for British owners. The number of regis-
tered vessels belonging to the island in 1828 was 340, varying from 30
to 200 tons; the average about fifty tons each. About fifty square-
rigged vessels are built every year, besides schooners, shallops, and boats;
the whole number of all descriptions i is estimated at about 1,500.

The trade of the island i< quite in its infancy: fish is the stgple article
of export. The principal establishments are at Arichat, Ship Harbour,
Ardoise, Sydney, Menadon, St. Anne’s, Marguerite, and Che‘tl/camp. The
mode generally is for the merchant to supply the fisherman with all
necessaries, and take the fish in payment. The quantity of fish ex-
ported in 1828 amounted to 41,060 quintals of dried, and 18,000 barrels of
pickled fish. Coal forms, next to fish, the largest article of export. The
mines were for a long time worked on the part of the government; but,
since their occupation by Messr'§¢([{undell and Bridge, the quantity raised
and exported has been very consxderably increased, and will be still more
so: from 15 to 20,000 chaldrons are annually exported, principally to
Halifax and the United States. The timber trade is not so active as it
has been ; the facilities for shipping it are decidedly greater than in any
of'the continental provinces, and the quality of the timber itself is not
inferior to any; yet there are not more than twenty to thirty cargoes an-
nually exported. The export of gypsum has also declined, but not from
any want or d)ﬂ‘icvlty in the supply, for, as before observed, it is found
in vast quantities, of the choicest quality, and can be shlpped with the
greatest facility. There is a partial export of agricultural produce, live
stock, potatoes, oats, butter, cheese, and some beef and pork, principally
to Newfoundland.

The principal imports consist of flour, rum, molasses, and British
manufactures. This trade, both export and import, is.carried on with
the British North American colonies, Great Britain, and the West Indies.
The amount and value in 1828 were as follows
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Ezports.
£
Dry Fish . 41,000 quintals. | Value of Exports tc Great Britain . 7,5
Pickled ditto . . . 18,000 barrels. British America . ¢ s . 55,000
Coals . . . . 10,000 chaldrons. | West Indies . . #1111
Potatoes . . . 12,000 bushels. | United States . . . . 1,000
Oatw . . . . 5,000 ditto. Other places . . : ; . 10,000
Train Oil 5 . . 2,200 barrels.
Live Stock . ) ) 700 head. Total value of Exports . . 79,000
Timber . " . . 10,000 load.
Imports.
£
Flour ‘ s . 40,000 barrels. | Vulue of Imports from Great Britain 22,000
Rum . ..« . 40,000 gallons. | British America . . . . 50,000
Molusses . . s . 30,000 ditto. West Indies . . . ; . 3,500
British manufactures . . Sun.dries . . . . 500
Total value of Imports . . 76,000

Yhowing a balance of trade in favour O}ﬂle island.

Sydney was declared a free port iff 1828, a circumstance which will
no doubt be of infinite advantage to the development of the resources,
and increasing the trade and wealth of the island.

About ten miles north-east from Cape North lies the Island of St.
Paul. a barren precipitous rock, upon which numerous ships have begn
wrecked, and thousands of lives lost. From the high importance that
attaches to this island for navigators, it is expedient to insert the following
important reports, made and grounded on the information of gentlemen
of sciencesand experience.

«H, M. Sloop Columbine.

« Halifax, 20th October, 1820,
“ SIR,

“T have the honour to represent to you, that having landed on the
Island of St. Paul’s on the 16th instant, in order to determine its geogra-
phical position, assisted by Mr. Jauncey, admiralty mate, with a reflecting
circle, sextant artificial horizon of quicksilver, and chronometer, No. 102,
being compared with our standard on buard, that it lies in lat. 47°12' 38"
north, and long. 60° 11’ 24” west of Greenwich. It being the most ad-
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vantageéous place in my opinion of all others in or about this great
thoroughfare of shipping to erect a light-house, I was very partxcular
in examining its local situation, whether a landing could be conveniently
effected so as to supply a light-house with stores, &c. In standing close.
to its north-west and north-east sides in the ship, where we had been led
~ to believe there was an anchorage, we had no bottom, with seventeen
fathoms, at a distance of two cables’ length from shore: but it has two
coves, one on the north-east and the other on the north-west side; there
“#s no possibility of landing at the former, the rocks being perpendicular,
but at the north-west tove, which is an indent of about two cab}ee length,
and about three cables’ lengthbroad, there is a shelter for small vessels,
with the wind from south-west southerly to north-east, in tén fathoms,
at two cables’ length from shore (then Cape Breton will appear over the
west side of the cove), the depth gradually lessening to five fathoms close
to the rocks. At the north-eass side of this cove there is a small creek,
large enough for a'line-of-battle ship’s launch (a vessel about ten tons),
to lie well sheltered, where stores could be landed whenever a vessel
could show herself off this sidé.Rf the island. The surface of the hills
is covered with stinted firs, and between them are patches of fioron
~ grass, which would feed cattle. The great mass of the island is composed
of floetz stone (the stratum vertical), which seems to ecrumble away, and
not very good for building; but there are here and there veins of red
gaeise or granite, from six to ten feet broad, running across the island
from north to south. At the head of the north-west cove is a fine run
of fresh water. In approaching the island from south-east and north-
j west, it appears ir three hills, the highest being in the middle. At the
head of the north-west cove, and about half a mile north-easc from the
middle hill, and near the brook of fresh water, is the spot where we took
our astronomical observations. On the top of this hill is the site I humbly
recommend to have a hgbt-home, built, its elevation being 229 feet above
the level of the sea by our measurement ; therefore a light-house 100 feet
~ high could be seen over the other hills and from every direction, and
ships could run boldly for it, and never could pass on either side in the
fair way without seeing it. A light-house in this island would also -
answer to distinguish it from the ne:ghbom'ing land during snow storms



